IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO. 20-0126
)
 RYAN JACOB WIENEKE,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR BENTON COUNTY
HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER L. BRUNS, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

ASHLEY STEWART
Assistant Appellate Defender
astewart@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY'S FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the district court abused its sentencing discretion by considering information outside the case record?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Young, 292 N.W.2d 432, 434-435 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Valin, 724 N.W.2d 440, 444 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Lloyd, 530 N.W.2d 708, 713 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Johnson, 513 N.W.2d 717, 719 (Iowa 1994)

State v. McKeever, 276 N.W.2d 385, 387 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Witham, 583 N.W.2d 677, 678 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Black, 324 N.W.2d 313, 316 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Wycle, 834 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013)

State v. Porath, 842 N.W.2d 680 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013)

State v. Ashley, 462 N.W.2d 279, 282 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Gonzalez, 582 N.W.2d 515, 517 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Lovell, 857 N.W.2d 241, 242-43 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Jorgenson, 588 N.W.2d 686, 687 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 43 (Iowa 2001)

II. Whether under Senate File (S.F). 589, the Court should interpret “good cause” broadly and implement an adequate procedure to avoid due process and equal protection claims related to guilty pleas?

Authorities

Iowa Code § 814.6(1) (2019)

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019)

Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2019)

Iowa Civil Liberties Union v. Critelli, 244 N.W.2d 564, 568–69 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Tesch, 704 N.W.2d 440, 452 (Iowa 2005)

Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977

Iowa Code § 322A.2 (2019)

Iowa Code § 322A.15 (2019)

Iowa Code § 915.84(1) (2019)

State v. Winters, 690 N.W.2d 903, 907-08 (Iowa 2005)

Wilson v. Ribbens, 678 N.W.2d 417, 420-21 (Iowa 2004)

Simmons v. State Pub. Def., 791 N.W.2d 69, 74 (Iowa 2010)

U.S. Const. amend. V

U.S. Const. amend. XIV § 1

Iowa Const. art. I, § 6

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

Iowa Const. art. V, § 4

In re Durant Comm. Sch. Dist., 252 Iowa 237, 245, 106 N.W.2d 670, 676 (1960)

Wissenberg v. Bradley, 209 Iowa 813, 229 N.W. 205, 209 (Iowa 1929)

McKane v. Durston, 153 U.S. 684, 687-88 (1894)

Cassandra Burke Robinson, The Right to Appeal, 91 N.C.L.Rev. 1219, 1221 (2013)

Marc M. Arkin, Rethinking the Constitutional Right to an Appeal, 39 UCLA L. Rev. 503 (1992)

Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 756 n. 1 (1983)

Waldon v. District Court of Lee County, 256 Iowa 1311, 1316, 130 N.W.2d 728, 731 (1964)

Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 18, 76 S. Ct. 585, 590, 100 L. Ed. 891 (1956)

Rinaldi v. Yeager, 384 U.S. 305, 310, 86 S.Ct. 1497, 1500, 16 L.Ed.2d 577, 581 (1966)

Shortridge v. State, 478 N.W.2d 613, 615 (Iowa 1991)

1990 Iowa Acts ch. 1043, § 1

James v. State, 541 N.W.2d 864, 868 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Hinnners, 471 N.W.2d 841, 843 (Iowa 1991)

Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 400–01, 105 S. Ct. 830, 838–39, 83 L. Ed. 2d 821 (1985)

Billotti v. Legursky, 975 F.2d 113, 115 (4th Cir. 1992)

Gibb v. Hansen, 286 N.W.2d 180, 188 (Iowa 1979)

Farrell v. Iowa Dist. Court, 747 N.W.2d 789, 790-792 (Iowa Ct. App. 2008)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Defendant–Appellant Ryan Wieneke appeals after he pled guilty and was subsequently sentenced on January 9, 2020. Wieneke requests the Iowa Supreme Court retain this case because it presents substantial constitutional questions regarding the validity of Senate File 589’s amendments to Iowa Code sections 814.6(1) and 814.7. These arguments also raise substantial issues of first impression and fundamental issues of broad public importance that require ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. See Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2) (a), (c)–(d) (2019).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case

Defendant-Appellant Ryan Wieneke appeals his conviction, sentence and judgment following a guilty plea for Assault While Displaying a Dangerous Weapon, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code § 708.2 A(1) and 708.2A(2)(c).

Course of Proceeding

On October 9, 2019, the State filed a trial information charging Grady with one count of domestic assault abuse in violation of Iowa Code §§ 708.2A(1) and 708.2A(2)(c). (Trial Information)(App. pp. 4-5). Wieneke pled not guilty and waived his right to a speedy trial on October 22, 2020. (Written Arraignment and Plea of Not Guilty)(App. p. 6). Wieneke waived his rights to a trial and pled guilty as charged on November 21, 2019. (Waiver)(App. pp. 7-10). There was a plea agreement between Weineke and the State which stated that Wieneke would plead guilty as charged to Domestic Abuse Assault for a deferred judgment and the county attorney agreed not to resist a deferred judgement by standing silent during sentencing. (Sent. Tr. p. 2, L21-p.3, L11). On January 9, 2020, Wienke was sentenced by the district court to an indeterminate term of incarceration not to exceed two years with all but six days suspended and \$625.00 fine suspended. (Order of Disposition)(App. pp. 11-14). Wieneke

filed a notice of appeal on January 16, 2020. (Notice)(App. p. 15).

Facts

According to the minutes of testimony, Lydia Wieneke over a few days prior to September 19, 2019, Wieneke had not been taking his prescription medication. (MT p. 1)(Conf. App. p. 4). On September 19, 2019, Wieneke became angry with her and told her to “get out”. (MT p. 1)(Conf. App. p.4). Lydia Wieneke took their daughter and left the home and at some point Wieneke followed both of them out to the car. Lydia had already placed their daughter into her car seat and locked the doors. (MT. p. 1)(Conf. App. p. 4). Wieneke, who had a knife in his hand, told Lydia that she was not leaving. (Mt. p. 1)(Conf. App. p. 4). Wieneke swung the knife in an upward motion and Lydia received a two-inch cut on the left side of her chest. Wieneke then went to the passenger front tire and stabbed it. (MT p. 1)(Conf. App. p. 4).

To establish a factual basis, Wieneke admitted that on September 19, 2019 in Benton County, Iowa, he assaulted Lydia Wieneke, a person he had a domestic relationship with at the time, while displaying a dangerous weapon. (Waiver of Rights and Plea of Guilty)(App. pp. 7-10). Any additional relevant facts will be discussed below.

Argument

I. The district court abused its sentencing discretion by considering information outside the case record.

A. Preservation of Error: Reviews of the sentencing is properly before this court upon direct appeal despite the absence of objection in the trial court. See State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994). See also State v. Young, 292 N.W.2d 432, 434-435 (Iowa 1980) (improper sentencing factor claim reviewed despite lack of objection at sentencing).

B. Scope of Review: This court reviews the district court's sentencing decision for the correction of errors of law. See State v. Valin, 724 N.W.2d 440, 444 (Iowa 2006).

Because the sentence imposed is within the statutory limits, this court will only reverse if the lower court abused its discretion in imposing the sentence. See id. An abuse of discretion occurs when the sentence imposed is unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. See Id at 445.

C. Discussion: In exercising discretion, “The district court is to weigh all pertinent matters in determining a proper sentence including the nature of the offense, the attending circumstances, the defendant’s age, character, and propensities or chances to reform.” State v. Lloyd, 530 N.W.2d 708, 713 (Iowa 1995) (quoting State v. Johnson, 513 N.W.2d 717, 719 (Iowa 1994)). The punishment must fit the particular person and the circumstances under consideration; each decision must be made on an individual basis, and no single factor, including the nature of the offense, will be solely determinative. State v. McKeever, 276 N.W.2d 385, 387 (Iowa 1979).

When the district court has sentencing discretion, it

must properly exercise that discretion. State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999). When sentencing a defendant, the court may not consider factors or allegations that are not established by the evidence or admitted by the defendant. State v. Witham, 583 N.W.2d 677, 678 (Iowa 1998); State v. Black, 324 N.W.2d 313, 316 (Iowa 1982).

A sentencing court’s “consideration of [facts or] information obtained from outside the [defendant’s case] record is a defect in the sentencing procedures that requires a remand for resentencing.” State v. Wygle, 834 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013)(a sentencing court’s statement that “I couldn’t cite you the particular statistics but the Court’s understanding is that somebody has been abused as a child is significantly more likely to...abuse other children...” revealed that the court “improperly considered facts outside Wygle’s case record” which “requires a remand for resentencing.”).

See also State v. Porath, 842 N.W.2d 680 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (sentencing court’s statements that the characteristics of

defendant's offense "carry signs and indications that the court has seen in other situations where somebody, um, is a sexual deviant and has perpetrated against many victims" demonstrated that the court "considered...facts outside Porath's case record" which "requires a remand a remand for resentencing.").

To constitute reversible error, there must be some showing that the sentencing judge was not "merely aware" of the improper factor but also "impermissibly considered" or "relied on" it in rendering the sentence. State v. Ashley, 462 N.W.2d 279, 282 (Iowa 1990). Where such a showing is made, however, the reviewing court "cannot speculate about the weight a sentencing court assigned to [the] improper consideration and the defendant's sentence [] must be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing." State v. Gonzalez, 582 N.W.2d 515, 517 (Iowa 1998). See also State v. Lovell, 857 N.W.2d 241, 242-43 (Iowa 2014); State v. Jorgenson, 588 N.W.2d 686, 687 (Iowa 1998); State v. Black, 324 N.W.2d at

315-16. This is even so if the impermissible factor was merely a secondary consideration.” Lovell, 857 N.W.2d at 243 (internal quotations marks omitted). Additionally, “[i]n order to protect the integrity of our judicial system from the appearance of impropriety,” resentencing must be “before a different judge.” Id. at 243.

In the present case, the district court considered impermissible factors when it sentenced Weineke and ordered an indeterminate two years with all but six days suspended. (Order of Disposition)(App. pp. 11-14). Wieneke is entitled to a new sentencing before a different judge.

A sentencing court’s “consideration of [facts or information] obtained from outside the [defendant’s case]’ record is a defect in the sentencing procedures that requires a remand for resentencing. State v. Wygle, 834 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013).

In this case, when discussing and issuing its sentence decision and the factors it found important in Wieneke’s case,

the district court stated the following, in relevant part:

So Mr. Wieneke, a couple of things strike me about what I have heard today and what I read in the court file. This is a very serious underlying event. This is not an event where somebody in anger pushed another person or did something of that nature. This is an event where someone went to the trouble of finding a knife and carrying a knife.

And it's an event where what's described is you initially cutting your wife with the knife and I'm being asked to chalk that up as an accident by your side here. You didn't accidentally stab the tire of the vehicle, the flattened vehicle.

And this is a very serious underlying assault. ***In my personal view of people who commit crimes with knives is they are willing to get up close and personal to someone else in causing harm.*** And you've told me you're to a previous member of the Armed Forces, so I have to presume that you have some combat training. Is that accurate?

(Sent. Tr. p. 16, L5-16)(emphasis added).

These emphasized statements made by the court “reveal [] it improperly considered facts outside [Wieneke’s] case record. State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 43 (Iowa 2001).

(Where “the sentencing court”[]... ma[kes] specific reference to “the impermissible factor, an “affirmative showing” is made

that the court considered that factor.) The Court’s personal experience with cases involving assailants with knives and the Court’s personal understanding of military personnel training were impermissible factors that should not have been considered during the sentencing hearing. See State v. Porath, 842 N.W.2d 680 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013)(sentencing court’s statements that the characteristics of defendant’s offense “carry signs and indications that the court has seen in other situations where somebody, um, is a sexual deviant and has perpetrated against many victims” demonstrated that the court “considered...facts outside Porath’s case record” which “requires a remand a remand for resentencing.”) Accordingly, Wieneke’s sentences must be vacated and this matter should be remanded for resentencing before a different judge. Lovell, 857 N.W.2d at 243.

II. Under S.F. 589, this court should interpret “good cause” broadly and implement an adequate procedure to avoid due process and equal protection violations related to guilty pleas.

On July 1, 2019, Senate File 589 went into effect. The

legislation made several changes to the Iowa Code, including several affecting criminal appeals. In particular, Senate File 589 amended Iowa Code section 814.6(1) to only grant a right of appeal from a final judgment of sentence from “[a] conviction where the defendant has pled guilty” to a class “A” felony or in cases “where the defendant establishes good cause.” Iowa Code § 814.6(1) (2019).

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019). The amendment to section 814.6(1) provides that a defendant who has pled guilty may only appeal when he “establishes good cause.” Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2019). “Good cause” is not defined in the statute, and the statute does not prescribe the procedure to be used by a defendant to establish good cause. *Id.* Thus, the determination of both is left to the discretion of the court. See Iowa Civil Liberties Union v. Critelli, 244 N.W.2d 564, 568–69 (Iowa 1976) (Iowa courts maintain an “inherent common-law power . . . to adopt rules for the management of cases on their dockets in the absence of statute.”).

Because “good cause” is not defined or limited in the statute, the court will give the term its common meaning. State v. Tesch, 704 N.W.2d 440, 452 (Iowa 2005). “Good cause” is commonly defined as “[a] legally sufficient reason.” CAUSE, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). It is a broad and flexible term, found throughout Iowa law where its definition is situational and varies depending on the context in which it is being applied. See, e.g., Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33 (violations of speedy indictment and speedy trial warrant dismissal unless “good cause to the contrary is shown.”); Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977 (court may set aside default upon showing of “good cause”); Iowa Code §§ 322A.2 & .15 (2019) (providing motor vehicle franchise may not be terminated unless “good cause” is shown and identifying factors to evaluate in that determination); Iowa Code § 915.84(1) (allowing for waiver of time limitation to file for crime victim compensation if “good cause” is shown); State v. Winters, 690 N.W.2d 903, 907-08 (Iowa 2005) (discussing that grounds for “good cause” to grant

trial continuance is narrower in a criminal case where speedy trial rights are at stake than in a civil case); Wilson v. Ribbens, 678 N.W.2d 417, 420-21 (Iowa 2004) (discussing factors to be considered when determining if “good cause” has been shown to excuse failure of service pursuant to rule 1.302).

The court will usually interpret statutes in a way that avoids a constitutional problem. Simmons v. State Pub. Def., 791 N.W.2d 69, 74 (Iowa 2010). The legislature’s assignment of discretion to the court to define “good cause” and implement the procedure utilized to establish such cause ensures both can be accomplished in a manner consistent with constitutional dictates. An interpretation effectively prohibiting the right of appeal for defendants who plead guilty would raise concerns about due process and equal protection under both the Iowa and the federal constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. V; amend. XIV § 1; Iowa Const. art. I, §§ 6, 9.

Article V, section 4 provides the supreme court shall have appellate jurisdiction, “under such restrictions as the general

assembly may, by law, prescribe.” Iowa Const. art. V, § 4. This court has long acknowledged the ability of the legislature to place limitations on the right to appeal. See In re Durant Comm. Sch. Dist., 252 Iowa 237, 245, 106 N.W.2d 670, 676 (1960) (“We have repeatedly held the right of appeal is a creature of statute. It was unknown at common law. It is not an inherent or constitutional right and the legislature may grant or deny it at pleasure.”). See also Wissenberg v. Bradley, 209 Iowa 813, 229 N.W. 205, 209 (Iowa 1929). The United States Supreme Court has held similarly. McKane v. Durston, 153 U.S. 684, 687-88 (1894) (“A review by an appellate court of the final judgment in a criminal case, however grave the offence of which the accused is convicted, . . . is not now a necessary element of due process of law.”). However, these holdings are subject to criticism. See Cassandra Burke Robinson, The Right to Appeal, 91 N.C.L.Rev. 1219, 1221 (2013) (arguing U.S. Supreme Court has relied on “nineteenth century dicta” for the proposition that due process does not require a right of appeal

and expressing concerns that states will attempt to eliminate appeals as of right “in order to save fiscal and administrative resources.”); Marc M. Arkin, Rethinking the Constitutional Right to an Appeal, 39 UCLA L. Rev. 503 (1992); Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 756 n. 1 (1983) (Brennan, J. dissenting) (predicting that if the court were squarely faced with the issue, it would hold that due process requires a right to appeal a criminal conviction).

However, assuming the legislature can grant or deny the right to appeal at its pleasure, equal protection guarantees dictate that “[o]nce the right to appeal has been granted . . . it must apply equally to all. It may not be extended to some and denied to others.” Waldon v. District Court of Lee County, 256 Iowa 1311, 1316, 130 N.W.2d 728, 731 (1964).

There is no meaningful distinction between a rule which would deny the poor the right to defend themselves in a trial court and one which effectively denies the poor an adequate appellate review accorded to all who have money enough to pay the costs in advance. It is true that a State is not required by the Federal Constitution to provide appellate courts or a right to appellate review at all.

But that is not to say that a State that does grant appellate review can do so in a way that discriminates against some convicted defendants on account of their poverty. Appellate review has now become an integral part of the Illinois trial system for finally adjudicating the guilt or innocence of a defendant. *Consequently, at all stages of the proceedings the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses protect persons like petitioners from invidious discriminations.*

Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 18, 76 S. Ct. 585, 590, 100 L. Ed. 891 (1956) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). See also Rinaldi v. Yeager, 384 U.S. 305, 310, 86 S.Ct. 1497, 1500, 16 L.Ed.2d 577, 581 (1966) (once right of appeal is established “these avenues must be kept free of unreasoned distinctions that can only impede open and equal access to the courts.”); Shortridge v. State, 478 N.W.2d 613, 615 (Iowa 1991) (superseded by statute, 1990 Iowa Acts ch. 1043, § 1, as recognized in James v. State, 541 N.W.2d 864, 868 (Iowa 1995)) (finding statute limiting right of appeal by inmate from denial of postconviction relief unconstitutional on equal protection grounds because State was not similarly limited). State v. Hinnars, 471 N.W.2d 841, 843 (Iowa 1991) (defendant may

waive right to appeal, but must do so voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently to meet due process requirements).

As well, the procedure by which the appeal is considered must also comport with due process. See Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 400–01, 105 S. Ct. 830, 838–39, 83 L. Ed. 2d 821 (1985) (“The right to appeal would be unique among state actions if it could be withdrawn without consideration of applicable due process norms. . . . In short, when a State opts to act in a field where its action has significant discretionary elements, it must nonetheless act in accord with the dictates of the Constitution-and, in particular, in accord with the Due Process Clause.”): Billotti v. Legursky, 975 F.2d 113, 115 (4th Cir. 1992) (West Virginia’s discretionary right of appeal did not violate due process because procedure for seeking appeal included right to court-appointed counsel, preparation of transcripts, opportunity to present oral argument, and submission of written petition to the appellate court including

statement of facts, procedure, assignments of error, and legal authority).

a. Wieneke has established “good cause” justifying his appeal.

Because Wieneke has no other avenue by which to raise his claim and because his claims are non-frivolous, Wieneke has established good cause to appeal. The issue that Wieneke raises in his appeal – that the district court used improper sentencing factors – are claims that cannot be addressed by any other forum.

b. Wieneke’s appeal is non-frivolous.

To satisfy a “good cause” standard, the defendant should not have to show that he would definitively win on the merits of the claim he seeks to raise in the appeal. Instead, the court’s consideration of whether good cause has been established should include whether the defendant has a colorable or non-frivolous claim. In other discretionary review situations, a petitioner does not have a burden to show he will ultimately prevail on the merits of the claim to get review

granted. See Gibb v. Hansen, 286 N.W.2d 180, 188 (Iowa 1979) (Supreme Court considered claims raised in petition for writ of certiorari and ultimately ruled against petitioner and annulled writ); Farrell v. Iowa Dist. Court, 747 N.W.2d 789, 790-792 (Iowa Ct. App. 2008) (Supreme Court granted petition for writ of certiorari but petitioner ultimately lost on one issue and prevailed on others).

In this case, the district court had a legal obligation to use proper sentencing factors when deciding on sentence for Wieneke. The record supports Wieneke's claim, and Wieneke has established good cause for his appeal.

CONCLUSION

For all the above reasons, the defendant requests this court vacate his sentence, and judgment and remand the case.

NONORAL SUBMISSION

Oral submission is not requested unless this Court believes it may be of assistance in the resolution of the issue presented.

ATTORNEY'S COST CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, hereby certifies that the true cost of producing the necessary copies of the foregoing Brief and Argument was \$2.86, and that amount has been paid in full by the Office of the Appellate Defender.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPEFACE REQUIREMENTS AND TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION FOR BRIEFS

This brief complies with the typeface requirements and type-volume limitation of Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.903(1)(d) and 6.903(1)(g)(1) because:

[X] this brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface Bookman Old Style, font 14 point and contains 3,221 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1).