IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 20-0126

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

RYAN WIENEKE, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BENTON COUNTY THE HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER BRUNS, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

TYLER J. BULLER

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) tyler.buller@ag.iowa.gov

DAVID C. THOMPSON Benton County Attorney

TIM DILLE Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The district court did not abuse its discretion by making the common-sense observation that knife crime requires offenders to "get up close and personal to someone else in causing harm."

Authorities

State v. Formaro, 638 N.W.2d 720 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Sailer, 587 N.W.2d 756 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Wickes, 910 N.W.2d 554 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a)

II. In light of *Damme*, this Court need not address Division II of the defendant's brief.

Authorities

State v. Damme, No. 19-1139, 2020 WL 2781465 (Iowa May 29, 2020) Iowa Code § 814.6

ROUTING STATEMENT

The issue the defendant claims warrants retention (interpreting "good cause" in relation to a guilty-plea sentence) has been decided by the Supreme Court. *See State v. Damme*, No. 19-1139, 2020 WL 2781465, at *6 (Iowa May 29, 2020).

Transfer to the Court of Appeals would be appropriate. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The defendant, Ryan Wieneke, appeals his sentence for domestic abuse assault while displaying a dangerous weapon, an aggravated misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code section 708.2A(1) and 708.2A(2)(c) (2019). The defendant pled guilty in the Benton County District Court, the Hon. Christopher Bruns presiding.

Course of Proceedings

The State accepts the defendant's course of proceedings as adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Facts

The defendant, a military veteran, "woke up angry" one day in 2019. Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4. He smelled of alcohol when he

returned from a fishing trip and started arguing with his wife, Lydia.

Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4.

The defendant told Lydia to "get the fuck out." Police Narrative, p. 1; Conf. App. 10. When Lydia left the house with the couple's daughter, the defendant followed her outside with a knife in his hand. Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4. The knife was black and said "Marine" on it. Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4. According to Lydia, the defendant had multiple knives in the house, but no guns—he couldn't have guns because another of his ex-girlfriends had taken out an order of protection against him. Police Narrative, p. 1; Conf. App. 10.

Lydia put her daughter in the car seat and locked the doors. Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4.

The defendant caught up with her, told her she "wasn't going anywhere," and swung the knife at her in an upward arc. Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4. Lydia felt the knife cut her but did not initially realize that she had a two-inch wound cut into her chest. Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4.

The defendant next went to the driver's side of the car, stabbed the tire, and said: "You're not fucking leaving now." Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4. After this, the defendant went back into the house.

Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4. Lydia left in the defendant's truck and called the defendant's parents, as her son was still in the house.

Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4.

The defendant began texting Lydia, ordering her to bring back their daughter. Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4. The defendant told her to "get the fuck back here." Police Narrative, p. 1; Conf. App. 10.

The defendant also told Lydia that, if she called the police, it would "put [their son] in danger because you know I'd rather die free for a cause than live for nothing[.]" Police Narrative, p. 1; Conf. App. 10. He also told Lydia that she caused the altercation. Police Narrative, p. 1; Conf. App. 10. And he threatened to leave the state or country and surrender his rights to the children. Police Narrative, p. 1; Conf. App. 10.

The defendant's parents arrived at the house and found that it smelled like a fire had been started. Police Narrative, p. 1; Conf. App. 10. The next day, Lydia discovered that the defendant had burned the lease agreement to her car in the kitchen sink. Minutes, p. 1; Conf. App. 4. She also later found knives hidden around the house and "stab marks" in a dry-erase board. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11.

While Lydia reported the incident to police, the defendant continued to text her, saying that he could no longer make sense of "civilian life" and wasn't going to do it any more. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11. He accused Lydia of "messing with his head." Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11. And he made statements that led Lydia to suspect he would be armed and lying in wait when she returned home. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11.

Lydia and her father-in-law, the defendant's father, told police they feared the defendant would fight with police when they arrived, because the defendant had previously made comments about "never going to jail or giving up his freedom." Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11.

Police arrested the defendant. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11. The defendant described problems with medication to the police, said that he had PTSD, and claimed to not remember attacking Lydia. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11. Officers at the residence confirmed the puncture marks to Lydia's tire and observed beer, a BB gun, and a step ladder inside the garage with rope hanging from it. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11.

At the jail, the defendant refused services from crisis counselors. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11. He said he "did not know" what he was going to do when he was released from jail. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11.

About a week after the incident, Lydia discovered a handgun hidden in a cupboard at the house. Police Narrative, p. 2; Conf. App. 11.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court did not abuse its discretion by making the common-sense observation that knife crime requires offenders to "get up close and personal to someone else in causing harm."

Preservation of Error

Because the defendant asserts the district court abused its discretion at sentencing, the State is unable to challenge error preservation. *See* Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a).

Standard of Review

"[T]he decision of the district court to impose a particular sentence within the statutory limits is cloaked with a strong presumption in its favor, and will only be overturned for an abuse of discretion or the consideration of inappropriate matters." *State v*. *Formaro*, 638 N.W.2d 720, 724 (Iowa 2002) (citation omitted). To

show an abuse of discretion, a defendant bears the burden to affirmatively show that the district court relied on improper factors. *State v. Sailer*, 587 N.W.2d 756, 762 (Iowa 1998).

Merits

The defendant contends in his brief that the district court "considered impermissible factors" at sentencing. Defendant's Proof Br. at 19. The gist of the defendant's complaint is that he thinks the court went outside the record in making the common-sense observation that knife crimes require offenders to "get up close and personal to someone else in causing harm." Defendant's Proof Br. at 20–21. This claim is meritless and the defendant cannot carry his burden to affirmatively prove an abuse of discretion.

This is the district court's lengthy explanation of reasons for sentencing, with the complained-about sentence in bold and underline below:

THE COURT: Okay. In deciding our outcome here I've considered the maximum opportunity for rehabilitation of Mr. Wieneke. I've considered the need to protect the community from further offenses by him and others. I've paid careful attention to the nature of this offense. The record should reflect I've reviewed the file, including the minutes of testimony.

I've considered Mr. Wieneke's lack of a previous record. I've considered, to the extent I have it, the information as to his age, education and employment and family circumstances. I have no recommendation from the county attorney. I have no recommendation from the Department of Corrections because this is not a case where a PSI was done. I have the recommendation from the victim -- or the arguments from the victim, to the extent I can consider those. I have the arguments from the defense side. I have the State standing silent.

I do, ma'am [directed at the victim], have your request that I order restitution in this case and I have your victim impact statement.

So, Mr. Wieneke, a couple things strike me about what I've heard today and what I read in the court file. This is a very serious underlying event. This is not an event where somebody in anger pushed another person or did something of that nature. This is an event where someone went to the trouble of finding a knife and carrying a knife.

And it's an event where what's described is you initially cutting your wife with the knife and I'm being asked to chalk that up as an accident by your side here. You didn't accidentally stab the tire of the vehicle, the flattened vehicle.

THE DEFENDANT: Correct, Your Honor. That was intentional.

THE COURT: And this is a very serious underlying assault. My personal view of people who commit crimes with knives is they are very willing to get up close

and personal to someone else in causing harm. And you've told me you're a previous member of the Armed Services, so I have to presume that you have some combat training. Is that accurate?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. I do have more to say, if you don't mind.

THE COURT: You've made your statement, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: All right.

THE COURT: And it concerns me that I have someone who has training from the military who's using a knife. I understand your explanation, but I don't find your explanation to be particularly credible. You're either using that knife in a tremendously careless manner or, more likely, you're using that knife to at least invoke fear in another person. The injury may or may not have been on purpose, but invoking the fear when you committed this crime was something you did on purpose.

I don't find that this is a crime where the need to rehabilitate you is so great that I should give you a deferred judgment. I also don't find this is a crime where it makes sense for me to send you to prison for two years, which is what the victim is asking me to do, because if I send you to prison for two years you're not going to pay child support. You're not going to pay restitution because you won't be able to.

So having considered all the factors I'm required to consider by Iowa law, I sentence you to be confined for an indeterminate term not to exceed two years [with all but six days in jail suspended...]

Sent. tr. p. 15, line 10 - p. 17, line 24.

This was a thoughtful explanation of the district court's reasons for rejecting a deferred judgment and imposing a six-day jail sentence. The defendant plucks out a single sentence, arguing that the judge was somehow suggesting he was imposing sentence based on his personal experience with knives when he made this statement:

My personal view of people who commit crimes with knives is they are very willing to get up close and personal to someone else in causing harm.

Sent. tr. p. 16, lines 20–22. The judge did not impose sentence based on facts outside the record.

"My personal view" is simply another way of saying "in my opinion"—it's surplusage at the start of the sentence that carries no real meaning. Moreover, the observation that criminals with knives "are very willing to get up close and personal to someone else in causing harm" is obvious and does not require personal experience with knifing: obviously you need to be close to someone to wound them with a knife, contrasted with a firearm. This was a fair observation regarding the nature of the offense and an appropriate consideration when assessing the defendant's culpability.

In a sentencing appeal, the defendant "must affirmatively show that the sentencing court relied on improper evidence to overcome th[e] presumption of validity." *State v. Wickes*, 910 N.W.2d 554, 572 (Iowa 2018). The defendant cannot meet that burden here. The district court should be affirmed.

II. In light of *Damme*, this Court need not address Division II of the defendant's brief.

This Court need not address Division II of the defendant's brief (regarding "good cause") because, after the defendant filed his proof brief, the Supreme Court held that sentencing issues were not barred by the 2019 amendments to section 814.6. *See State v. Damme*, No. 19-1139, 2020 WL 2781465, at *6 (Iowa May 29, 2020). As a result, the State does not contend that section 814.6 bars the sole substantive claim raised by the defendant on appeal.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the defendant's sentence.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

This case should be decided on the briefs.